





Children's Worlds National Report

NAMIBIA



Mónica Ruiz-Casares¹, Shelene Gentz²

November 2019







¹ PhD, Associate Professor of Psychiatry, McGill University

² PhD, Senior Lecturer in Psychology, University of Namibia

Acknowledgements

This study would not have been possible without the participation of all the learners and school personnel in selected schools across Khomas region. We are also grateful to Biru Zhou and Camille Héguy at McGill University and to all the research assistants in Namibia, including Gregorius Amadhila, Jermine April, Andrea David, Uda Gawanas, Eugenia Haoses, Lereen Kaijeere, Arthur Kambambi, Leandré Kurz, Hilma Mbandeka, Kim Muatjejeja, Atty Mwafufya, Sharon Nawases, Hambeleleni Ndjaleka, Julien Ngairo, Justine Oases, Gregor Sechogele, Sofia Shoombe, and Sumari Uys.

Citation & Additional Information

Please cite this report as follows: Ruiz-Casares, M. & Gentz, S. (2019) *Namibia Children's Worlds National Report*. Montreal, Canada and Windhoek, Namibia: Children's Worlds Project (ISCWeB).

Further information about the Children's Worlds project can be found on the project website at www.isciweb.org. If you have questions about this report or the project in Namibia, please e-mail the authors at: monica.ruizcasares@mcgill.ca or sgentz@unam.na.

Table of contents

TABLE OF CONTENTS	3
LIST OF TABLES	4
1. Introduction	5
1.1 Context and population	5
1.2 Sampling: Strategy and outcome	6
1.3 Note on statistical analysis	<i>7</i>
2. RESULTS	8
2.1 The participants	8
2.2 The home and the people children live with	8
2.3 The home where children live	9
2.4 Friends	10
2.5 School	11
2.6 The area where children live	12
2.7 Money and the things children have	13
2.8 Time use	15
2.9 Subjective well-being: how children feel about their lives	15
2.10 Children's perceptions about their country	19
3. CONCLUSIONS	20
References	21

List of Tables

Table 1: Distribution of learners by grade and type of school in Khomas region	7
TABLE 2: ACHIEVED AND WEIGHTED SAMPLE (NUMBER OF PARTICIPANTS)	7
Table 3: Age and gender distribution of participants (Numbers, %)	8
Тавlе 4: Номе түре (%)	8
Table 5: Satisfaction with the people you live with (%)	9
Table 6: Variations in questions about home and family (means)	9
Table 7: Satisfaction with the home where you live (%)	9
Table 8: Things you have (%)	10
Table 9: Satisfaction with your friends (%)	10
Table 10: Friends (%)	
Table 11: Satisfaction with school life (%)	11
Table 12: Views about school (%)	11
TABLE 13: BULLYING (%)	
Table 14: Satisfaction with the area where you live (%)	12
TABLE 15: VIEWS ABOUT LOCAL AREA (ALL AGE GROUP) (%)	
Table 16: How often do you worry about how much money your family has? (%)	13
Table 17: Satisfaction with all the things you have (%)	13
Table 18: Do you have enough food to eat each day? (%)	
Table 19: The things children have (%)	14
Table 20: Access to basic services	14
Table 21: Descriptive statistics on family's material possessions (%)	15
Table 22: Satisfaction with time use	15
Table 23: Satisfaction with life as a whole (%)	
Table 24: CW-SWBS items (%)	16
TABLE 25: DBSWBS (%)	
Table 26: CW-PNAS items (%)	17
Table 27: CW- PSWBS items (%), 12 year-old	
Table 28: CW- PSWBS ITEMS (%), 10 YEAR-OLD	18
Table 29: Variations in different measures of subjective well-being (means)	19
Table 30: Children's rights (%)	19

1. Introduction

This report provides an overview of results from the survey administered in the Khomas region of Namibia in July 2018.

1.1 Context and population

Namibia's population counts a total of 2,324,388 people¹. The population in Namibia is scattered throughout its 14 regions: Erongo, Hardap, !Karas, Kavango East, Kavango West, Khomas, Kunene, Ohangwena, Omaheke, Omusati, Oshana, Oshikoto, Otjozondjupa and Zambezi¹. The present study was conducted in the Khomas region which is home to 18% of the total population of the country and includes the capital city, Windhoek. Thirty-six percent of the population in Namibia are aged 0 to 14 years (14 % of 0 to 4-year-olds and 23% of 5 to 14-year-olds). In the Khomas region specifically, the corresponding percentages are 13% for children aged 0 to 4 years and 16% for children aged 5 to 14 years.

Two-thirds of children in Namibia (65%) live in rural areas, whereas 35% live in urban areas. Khomas region, where this study took place, has the highest percentage of children living in urban areas (94%)². The implications of such urbanisation include easier access to resources, such as healthcare and education. Nonetheless, although regional data on social and economic indicators show that, in comparison to other regions, children in the Khomas region live in better situations²; there is a large discrepancy within the region, with the poorest parts of the population living in the rapidly growing north-west area of Windhoek largely due to rural migration. Along with Erongo region, Khomas has the highest rates of lifetime migration in the country¹. Due to the lack of affordable housing, many people build informal dwellings/shacks in areas which still lack basic facilities, such as adequate water, sanitation, and electricity. Indeed 42% of households in Khomas region live in such dwellings¹.

Namibia is a culturally diverse country and, while English is the official language, there are over 11 indigenous languages spoken. The main languages spoken in Namibian households are Oshiwambo languages (50%), Nama/Damara languages (11%) and Kavango languages (10%)¹. Khomas region has a slightly different profile where the top spoken languages are the Oshiwambo languages (41%), Afrikaans (19%), Nama/Damara languages (12%), and Otjiherero (10%). The Namibian population is predominantly Christian, with the most popular religion being Evangelical Lutheran (44% of women, 43% of men), Roman Catholic (20% of women, 26% of men), and Protestant/Anglican (21% of women, 13% of men)³.

In 2018, the Gross Domestic Product per capita in Namibia was 79.6 billion Namibian Dollars⁴. While the World Bank classifies Namibia as an upper middle income economy, Namibia has one of the highest income disparities in the world (Gini coefficient of 0.61)⁵ and an unemployment rate of 33.4%⁶. In Khomas, the main industries of employment are administrative and support service activities (13%) and construction (11%)⁷. More generally, in Namibia, the main sectors of employment are sales and services (57%) and professional/technical/managerial (19%)⁸.

In the Namibian context, children may be exposed to a multitude of risk factors that affect their well-being. Some of these adversities include poverty, high rates of HIV 9 10 ,

orphanhood¹¹ and violence¹². The country saw an increase in the incidence of severely poor female-headed households from 11% to 12% between 2009/2010 and 2016 and, for male-headed households, from 8 to 10%¹³. Children are proportionately more affected by poverty than adults, with about 1 in 3 children (34%) growing up in poverty (compared to 28% of the general population¹⁴). Although the access to safe water increased from 2011 to 2016, it is still not accessible to everyone¹⁵, particularly in remote rural areas and in informal urban settlements. Road and other infrastructure has been growing throughout the country at a steady pace yet access to health, social, and education services remains limited, particularly in remote rural areas.

Furthermore, Namibia has one of the highest HIV rates in the world. High uptake of Anti-Retroviral drugs has drastically reduced mortality and enhanced quality of life for HIV positive people¹⁶. Despite this, at 11.8%¹⁷ the prevalence of HIV among adults aged 15-49 years old remains one of the highest in the world¹⁸. High HIV infection rates has left many children orphaned, a phenomenon observed in other high HIV prevalence countries. Out of all the households in Namibia, 14% had orphans. This phenomenon is worse in rural areas, where 19% households have orphans (vs. 10% of households in urban areas⁹). Child- and youth-headed households face particular vulnerabilities yet also have sources of strength ¹⁹

In addition to this, children in Namibia may also be exposed to stressful environments in the form of violence and abuse. According to the Demographic and Health Survey of 2013²², when asked if they had experienced sexual violence since age 15 years, 31% of women aged 15 to 19 years old reported being victims of such incidents. Children and adolescents in Namibia also experience or witness violence in the home ²³ or suffer from being bullied at school ²⁴. Children may not be enrolled in school or may drop out of school as a result of such extreme conditions, and this can make them vulnerable to child labour ²⁵. In fact, the enrolment rates for primary school in Namibia (ages 7-13) is 95%, which is very similar to the rates found in the Khomas region (97%). More broadly, 34% of the population between 6- and 24-years old attend school. These rates are lower in urban areas (28%) than in rural areas (40%). In the Khomas region the rates of enrolment to school for the same age group is almost 70%¹.

Namibia has established a robust body of legislation, public policies, and strategic plans for children ²⁶, including the National Agenda for Children 2012-2016 (NAC)²⁷ and the Child Care and Protection Act (Act 3 of 2015)²⁸. It has also established public agencies for furthering children's rights, needs and interests. However, the country still remains one of the countries not having addressed the mental health needs of children and adolescents ²⁹.

1.2 Sampling: Strategy and outcome

The population for this study consisted of all children in Grade 4 and Grade 6 in Khomas region. The study was designed to achieve representative sample of children in school from Grade 4 (mainly ages 9 to 10) and Grade 6 (mainly ages 11 to 12) with an aim of achieving a final sample of at least 1,000 children in each group.

Table 1 shows the distribution of learners in Khomas region, by grade and relevant strata.

Table 1. Distribution of learners by grade and type of school in Khomas region (%)

Stratum	Grade 4	Grade 6
Rural	4.0	4.2
Urban Public	82.0	82.7
Urban Private	14.1	13.2

The 73 schools in Khomas region which had learners in the grades of interest were stratified by location (Rural/Urban). All rural schools (n=8) were selected to ensure adequate representation of this small sub-group of the population. Urban schools were further stratified by Private/State (P/S). Within each stratum, schools were randomly selected in each P/S list until reaching the number of learners proportional to the type of school keeping in mind that not more than 50 children could be selected per school for each grade group. Thus, up to two classes per grade were randomly selected within participating schools. We expected that random selection of classes would yield a balanced sample by sex, in line with the distribution of boys and girls in the two target grades according to the most recently published Ministry of Education statistics³⁰. Active consent from both parents and learners was required.

Table 2 summarises the achieved and weighted sample. After data cleaning, the survey data set contained questionnaires from a sample of 2124 children. Weights have been applied to the sample used in the analysis so that the proportion of children in the data set in each stratum is equivalent to the proportion of children in that stratum in the population.

Table 2. Achieved and Weighted sample (Number of participants)

	10 year-old	12 year-old	Total
Achieved sample	1025	1099	2124
Weighted sample	1062	1062	2124

1.3 Note on statistical analysis

Where groups have been subject to statistical testing, they are noted as significant if they relate to a p-value below 0.01. Differences described as marginally significant refer to p-values between 0.01 and 0.049. However at this stage, although the data have been weighted, the analysis does not take into account the design effect of clustering in the sample due to children being surveyed in class groups in schools. Taking this factor into account will not affect the descriptive statistics but is likely to affect the significance levels for statistical tests. For all frequencies, we report on the valid data. Missing data and, where applicable, children who selected that they "don't know" the answer are reported at the

bottom of the table. Except where indicated in the table, the data for the 10 and 12 year-old children are combined.

2. Results

2.1 The participants

The children's ages ranged from 8 to 14 years old with an average age of 11.1 (SD = 1.3). Table 3 shows the age and gender distribution of the weighted sample. Children in Grade 4 were mainly 10 years old (69.1%) but many were also 9 years old (19.0%) and 11 years old (13.6%). Children in Grade 6 were mainly 12 years old (56.8%) but several were also 11 years old (16.7%) and 13 years old (19.5%). The sample will be analysed by grade from here on. To maintain consistency across the country reports we will name the Grade 4 group the '10-year-olds' and the Grade 6 group the '12-year-olds'. Overall, 41.8% of the sample were boys and 58.2% were girls.

Table 3. Age and gender distribution of participants (Numbers, %)

	10 year-old	12 year-old	Total
Воу	453 (42.7%)	434 (40.9%)	887 (41.8%)
Girl	609 (57.3%)	628 (59.1%)	1237(58.2%)
Total	1062	1062	2124

Note: percentages given for columns

2.2 The home and the people children live with

Children were asked who they currently lived with. Table 4 shows that nearly all participants indicated that they lived with their family (93.6%), with a small percentage of children living in a foster home (3.4%), and fewer in a children's home, with friends or neighbours, or in another type of home.

Table 4. Home type (All age group) (%)

Type of home	
I live with my family	93.6
I live with friends or neighbours	0.5
I live in a foster home	3.4
I live in a children's home	0.5
I live in another type of home	2.1
Total	100.0

Note: missing < 1%

Children were asked to rank their satisfaction with their family life on an 11-point scale (0 to 10) with higher scores indicating higher levels of satisfaction. From Table 5 we can see that the children were very satisfied with the people who lived with them, with fewer than 20% of children indicating a score of 5 or lower.

Table 5. Satisfaction with the people you live with (All age group) (%)

Satisfaction with	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
The people you live with	1.1	0.3	1.1	0.8	1.0	14.2	2.8	6.8	7.2	13.1	51.5

Note: missing < 1%

There were six questions about children's views on the home and the people they live with. The questions were scored on a five point scale, from 'I do not agree' to 'I totally agree'. The results are summarised in

Table 6 by age group, comparing the mean scores of the two age groups. Higher scores indicate stronger agreement with the statement.

Table 6. Variations in questions about home and family (means)

	Family care	Family help problem	Good time together	Feel safe	Parents listen	Make joint decision
10 year-old	3.5	3.3	3.4	3.5	3.1	3.3
12 year-old	3.5	3.1	3.2	3.5	2.8	2.8
Total	3.5	3.2	3.3	3.5	2.9	3.0

Note: missing < 2%

Overall and by age group, children were most in agreement with the statement 'I feel safe at home' and 'There are people in my family who care about me' and least in agreement with 'My parents listen to me and take what I say into account'. The 10 year-old group generally showed higher levels of agreement than the 12 year-old group.

2.3 The home where children live

Children were asked whether they were satisfied with their home life. The percentages show that the children were very satisfied with the home where they live with fewer than 20% of children indicating a score of 5 or lower (Table 7).

Table 7. Satisfaction with the home where you live (All age group) (%)

Satisfaction with	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
The house or flat where you live	2.9	1.1	0.4	1.4	2.1	9.1	2.3	3.6	6.6	10.8	59.6

Note: missing < 2%

Children were also asked whether they had their own room and bed, and a place to study. In

Table 8, we see that over a third of children had their own room (36.1%) and 59.2% had their own bed. Of those that did not have their own bed, an additional 31.1 % reported to sharing a bed, whereas 9.7% did not have a bed at all. Overall 69.1% of children reported that they had a place to study in their home, with 19.2 % saying they had no place to study and 11.7% of children were unsure.

Table 8. Things you have (All age group) (%)

Whether you have ...

Own room	36.1%
Own bed	59.2%
Place to study	69.1%

Note: missing < 2%

2.4 Friends

Children were asked about their friendships. Children's views on their friends were mostly positive with just under half of the children (47%) selecting the highest score and saying they felt completely satisfied with their friends (Table 9).

Over three-in-four children (78.1%) agreed either totally or a lot with the statement that they 'had enough friends' (Table 10). However, there were still children who did not agree or only agree a little with the statements that they had enough friends (16.6%), that their friends were usually nice to them (22.6%), and that they got along well with their friends (19.6%). About 10% of children felt that if they had a problem they would have no friends to support them.

Table 9. Satisfaction with your friends (All age group) (%)

Satisfaction with	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
Your friends	3.1	1.0	0.9	1.9	1.8	13.0	4.4	6.0	7.9	12.8	47.0

Note: missing < 2%

Table 10. Friends (All age group) (%)

	I do not agree	Agree a little bit	Agree somewhat	Agree a lot	Totally agree
I have enough friends	8.5	8.1	5.4	16.1	62.0
My friends are usually nice to me	8.1	14.5	14.2	23.0	40.2
Me and my friends get along well together	8.0	11.6	12.6	22.4	45.4
If I have a problem, I have a friend who will support me	10.8	6.3	7.8	15.5	59.6

Note: missing < 2%; don't know ≤ 1%

2.5 School

Children were asked questions about various aspects of their school life and their teachers. The majority of children reported satisfaction with their school life (Table 11). The least positive response was children's satisfaction with other children in their class with only 32.5% who reported complete satisfaction (compared to over 60% for both satisfaction with their life as a student and the things that they have learnt).

Table 11. Satisfaction with school life (All age group) (%)

Satisfaction with	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
Life as a student	1.5	0.7	0.6	0.9	1.4	6.3	2.6	5.3	8.2	10.1	62.5
Things you have learned	1.1	0.2	0.3	0.4	0.5	4.3	1.5	3.8	7.0	13.3	67.6
Other children in your class	5.5	2.3	1.9	2.4	2.9	14.3	5.9	7.3	10.7	14.0	32.7

Note: missing < 1%

The majority of children were positive about their teachers and their school (Table 12). The least positive response was to the statement 'If I have a problem at school, other children will help me' although still 54.8% agreed a lot or totally agreed with this statement and 'My teachers listen to me and take what I say into account', although 55.8% still agreed a lot or totally agreed with the statement. More children 'totally agreed' that if they had a problem at school their teachers would help them compared to 'other children will help them'. Children rated their safety at school as high, yet still one-fifth of children (21.3%) did not agree or only agreed a little bit that they felt safe at school.

Table 12. Views about school (All age group) (%)

	I do not agree	Agree a little bit	Agree somewhat	Agree a lot	Totally agree
My teachers care about me	9.2	13.9	12.6	21.6	42.7
If I have a problem at school, my teachers will help me	6.8	9.3	11.3	21.4	51.2
If I have a problem at school, other children will help me	16.4	14.0	14.9	22.0	32.8
There are a lot of arguments between children in my class	16.0	11.7	10.5	16.9	44.9
My teachers listen to me and take what I say into account	14.1	15.1	14.6	18.8	37.2
At school I have opportunities to make decisions about things that are important to me	7.2	7.2	8.5	18.9	58.3
I feel safe at school	10.3	11.0	10.2	17.0	51.4

Note: missing < 2%; "don't know"≤ 4%

Children were asked different questions about active (e.g. being hit by other children) and passive bullying (e.g. being left out by other children in their class). Half of the children (51%) reported being hit by other children in their school at least once, with 11.5% being hit more than three times in the last month (Table 13). Even higher rates of bullying were

reported for being 'called unkind names by other children in your school' at least once in the last month (70.2%). Slightly over half of the children (54.3%) never felt left out by other children in their class; meanwhile, 15.6% report being left out more than three times in the last month.

Table 13. Bullying (All age group) (%)

How often:	Never	Once	Two or 3 times	More than three times
Hit by other children in your school	49.0	26.8	12.7	11.5
Called unkind names by other children in your school	29.8	22.6	19.2	28.5
Left out by other children in your class	54.3	18.3	11.8	15.6

Note: missing ≤ 1%; "don't know" < 2%

2.6 The area where children live

Children were asked how satisfied they were about the area where they lived as well as their views about their local areas. While most children were satisfied with the area they live in, with 56.6% reporting being completely satisfied or very close to completely satisfied (scores 9-10), 7.3% of children were not at all satisfied with the are they live in (Table 14).

Table 14. Satisfaction with the area where you live (All age group) (%)

Satisfaction with	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
The area where you live	7.3	1.2	1.1	2.1	1.9	10.7	4.5	6.0	8.5	14.2	42.4

Note: missing < 2%

Regarding feelings of safety in their area, 35.2% of children either did not feel safe or agree very little that they felt safe when they walk in the area where they lived (Table 15). The highest agreement, either total agreement or a lot of agreement, was found with children reporting that 'there were enough places to play or to have a good time' (63%). Regarding consideration of children's views, responses were quite spread out with about half of the children agreeing a lot or totally agreeing that adults take children's views seriously (50%) or that children can participate in decisions that matter to them (56.9%).

Table 15. Views about local area (All age group) (%)

In my area, I live in	I do not agree	Agree a little bit	Agree somewhat	Agree a lot	Totally agree
I feel safe when I walk	20.3	14.9	13.9	18.4	32.5
There are enough places to play or to have a good time	16.8	11.0	9.2	15.1	47.9
I have opportunities to participate in decisions about things that are important to me	19.4	10.0	13.7	19.9	37.0
Adults listen to children and take them seriously	20.0	13.7	16.4	16.9	33.1

Note: missing < 1%; 'don't know' < 6%

2.7 Money and the things children have

Children were asked a set of questions about their thoughts about money and the things they have. One quarter of children (24.7%) reported that they 'always' worry about how much money their family have with slightly more children in the 10 year-old group than the 12 year-old group reporting that they always worry about how much money their family has (Table 16). Less than a quarter of children (22%) never worried about how much money their family has. Over two-thirds of children (69.6%) reported that they felt completely satisfied or close to completely satisfied (scores 9 -10) with all the things that they had (Table 17).

Table 16. How often do you worry about how much money your family has? (%)

	10 year-old	12 year-old	Total
Never	24.3	19.8	22.0
Sometimes	36.6	44.2	40.4
Often	10.8	14.7	12.8
Always	28.2	21.3	24.7
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0

Note: missing < 1%: 'don't know' < 5%

Table 17. Satisfaction with all the things you have (All age group) (%)

Satisfaction with	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
all the things you have	3.1	0.6	0.9	1.2	1.6	7.0	3.5	4.5	8.0	11.4	58.2

Note: missing < 1%

Children were also asked whether they had enough food to eat each day (Table 18) and what items they owned. About 16.2% of children reported that they either 'never' or only 'sometimes' had enough food to eat each day, with slightly more 10 year olds reporting that they never had enough food to eat, compared to 12 year-old children (3.2% vs. 1.8%).

Table 18. Do you have enough food to eat each day? (%)

	10 year-old	12 year-old	Total
Never	3.2	1.8	2.5
Sometimes	13.9	14.6	14.3
Often	8.4	10.7	9.6
Always	74.4	72.9	73.7
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0

Note: missing < 1%: 'don't know' < 1%

Regarding 'things' that children have (Table 19), most children reported having 'clothes in a good condition' (92.1%) and 'two pairs of shoes' (84.7%), although 15.3% do not own two pairs of shoes. Fewer children had 'a mobile phone' (54.3%) or 'pocket money/money to spend on themselves' (60.9%). Children in the 10 year-old group generally reported having

more 'things', the largest differences being 'enough money for school trips and activities' (72.3% vs. 62.5%) and 'access to internet at home' (66.1% vs 58.6%).

Table 19. The things children have (%)

Which of the following do you have	10 yea	ar-old	12 year-old		Total	
	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes
Clothes in good condition	7.8	92.2	8.0	92.0	7.9	92.1
Enough money for school trips and activities	27.7	72.3	37.5	62.5	32.6	67.4
Access to the Internet at home	33.9	66.1	41.4	58.6	37.7	62.3
The equipment/things you need for sports and hobbies	29.4	70.6	36.5	63.5	32.9	67.1
Pocket money/ money to spend on yourself	35.5	64.5	42.6	57.4	39.1	60.9
Two pairs of shoes	14.1	85.9	16.4	83.6	15.3	84.7
A mobile phone	43.3	56.7	48.1	51.9	45.7	54.3
The equipment/things you need for school	18.9	81.1	22.8	77.2	20.9	79.1

Note: missing < 2%

Table 20. Access to basic services at home (All age groups) (%)

Electricity									
All of the time	65.4								
Some of the time	20.5								
Not at all	14.1								
Running water									
Yes	63.7								
No	31.7								
Not sure	4.5								
A toilet that flushes									
Yes	75.4								
No	22.1								
Not sure	2.5								

Note: missing < 4%

Table 21. Descriptive statistics on family's material possessions (All age groups) (%)

	No	Yes
A computer (including laptops and tablets)	31.2	68.8
A television	11.5	88.5
A fridge/freezer	11.7	88.3
A radio	28.5	71.5
A telephone (landline or mobile)	11.4	88.6
A family car / van / motorbike / etc.	25.3	74.7
A washing machine	30.8	69.2

Note: missing < 2%

Regarding access to basic services (Table 20), 14.1% of children reported having no electricity at all, with 20.5% having electricity 'some of the time'. Almost a third of children (31.7%) did not have running water in their home and 22.1 % of children reported that they did not have access to a toilet that flushes. Children were also asked about the material possessions in their family homes (

Table 21). The least common possessions were a washing machine (69.2%) and a computer (68.8%).

2.8 Time use

Children were also asked how satisfied they were with the way they use their time. Overall, children were satisfied with the way they use their time and also with how much free time they had to do what they want (Table 22).

Table 22. Satisfaction with time use (All age groups) (%)

Satisfaction with	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
How you use your time	3.2	0.9	1.0	1.3	1.9	10.9	4.6	7.6	9.6	13.9	45.1
How much free time you have to do what you want	4.9	1.5	1.7	1.9	3.1	9.7	4.1	6.0	8.3	13.6	45.2

Note: missing data <2%

2.9 Subjective well-being: how children feel about their lives

The *Children's Worlds* survey included a number of different measures of subjective well-being. We will first report the overall results of each scale and then we will consider variations in wellbeing according to age group and gender.

1. OLS (Overall Subjective Well-Being)

The first measure is the simplest, a single-item measure where children rank how satisfied they were with their life as a whole on an 11-point scale (0 to 10). Overall 61.8% of children were totally satisfied with their life, with 2.1% scoring the minimum (0). One-in-ten children (10.5%) rated their overall subjective wellbeing below a score of 6.

Table 23. Satisfaction with life as a whole (All age groups) (%)

Satisfaction with	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
Your life as a whole	2.1	0.4	0.3	1.0	1.1	5.6	2.7	5.1	5.1	14.7	61.8

Note: missing <1%

2. Children's Worlds Subjective Well-Being Scale (CW-SWBS)

The CW-SWBS contains six items measuring cognitive subjective well-being and is based on the Student Life Satisfaction Scale by Huebner (1991)³¹. This scale is based on five statements about children's overall life satisfaction, and children were asked to indicate how much they agree with each statement. Children aged 10 and 12 were asked to respond using an 11-point scale ranging from 'do not agree' to 'totally agree'.

Table 24. CW-SWBS items (All age groups) (%)

	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
I enjoy my life	2.6	0.6	0.2	0.9	1.6	6.9	3.4	4.5	5.7	10.6	62.9
My life is going well	3.2	0.9	0.8	1.0	1.5	8.4	3.6	4.7	9.8	16.7	49.3
I have a good life	2.3	0.9	0.8	0.8	2.0	6.2	3.4	4.7	7.2	13.6	58.1
The things that happen in my life are excellent	4.2	1.2	1.1	1.9	2.4	10.8	5.6	6.4	10.3	14.5	41.7
I like my life	1.9	0.8	0.6	0.9	1.3	3.8	2.5	3.4	5.4	9.9	69.6
I am happy with my life	2.0	0.8	0.5	0.8	0.8	3.9	2.6	3.7	4.9	10.2	69.7

Note: missing <1%

At least 50% of children scored the maximum on most questions, with exceptions being scoring the maximum for 'My life is going well' (49.4%) and "The things that happen in my life are excellent' (41.7%) (Table 24).

3. Children's Worlds Domain Based Subjective Well-Being Scale (CW-DBSWBS, 2003)

The CW-DBSWBS contains five items measuring domain based cognitive subjective well-being and is based on the Brief Multidimensional Student Life Satisfaction Scale by Seligson, Huebner & Valois ³². The domains include family, friends, school, living environment and self. As we can see in

Table 25 all domains scored fairly high with the highest proportion of total satisfaction achieved with the self (68.3%), followed by satisfaction with school life (62.5%), and the lowest with satisfaction with the area they live (42.4%) and friends (47%).

Table 25. DBSWBS (All age groups) (%)

Satisfaction with	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
The people you live with	1.1	0.3	1.1	0.8	1.0	14.2	2.8	6.8	7.2	13.1	51.5
Your friends	3.1	1.0	0.9	1.9	1.8	13.0	4.4	6.0	7.9	12.8	47.0
Your life as a student	1.5	0.7	0.6	0.9	1.4	6.3	2.6	5.3	8.2	10.1	62.5
The area where you live	7.3	1.2	1.1	2.1	1.9	10.7	4.5	6.0	8.5	14.2	42.4
The way that you look	2.5	0.8	0.8	1.2	0.8	4.5	2.8	3.4	5.0	9.9	68.3

Note: missing <2%

4. Children's Worlds Positive and Negative Affects Scale (CW-PNAS)

The CW-PNAS is based on Barrett and Russel's work ³³ and contains six items measuring affective subjective well-being: positive and negative affect. For positive affect, children were asked how often in the last two weeks they had felt: happy, calm and full of energy. For negative affect, children were asked how often in the last week they had felt: sad, stressed, or bored. Children answered on an 11-point scale ranging from 'not at all' to 'extremely'.

Table 26. CW-PNAS items (All age groups) (%)

Last tone on all a Hann	_		_		_	-	_		_		10
Last two weeks: How often feeling	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
Нарру	3.6	0.7	1.1	1.0	1.8	10.6	4.3	5.7	6.9	11.0	53.3
Calm	6.9	1.8	2.2	2.3	3.4	13.5	5.4	6.4	9.0	12.0	36.9
Full of energy	5.1	1.0	1.2	2.1	2.0	6.8	3.4	5.5	7.1	8.7	57.0
Sad	28.8	6.7	6.2	5.8	5.0	16.0	4.6	4.7	5.2	5.5	11.5
Stressed	29.6	5.2	3.5	4.0	4.0	11.0	3.5	6.6	5.8	6.2	20.7
Bored	22.2	5.8	3.6	4.4	3.4	12.5	4.8	4.9	6.3	6.2	25.9

Note: missing <2%

Table 26 shows that, for positive affect, over half the participants scored the maximum for feeling 'happy' (53.3%) and 'full of energy' (53.3%), whereas 36.9% of children scored the maximum for feeling 'calm'. For negative affect, 25.9% of children scored the maximum for feeling 'bored', 20.7% for feeling 'stressed', and 11.5% for feeling 'sad'.

5. Children's Worlds Psychological Subjective Well-Being Scale (CW-PSWBS)

The CW-PSWBS contains six items measuring psychological subjective well-being ³⁴. Children were asked to rate their well-being on an 11-point scale ranging from 'not at all' to 'totally agree'. This scale was included for the 12 year-old group. It was optionally asked of 10 year-old classes, when time allowed. Time constraints prevented completing it by 10 year-olds in some schools (N=93, 9.4%). The findings for the 12 year-old group are presented in Table 27. The highest frequency of children selecting 'complete agreement' (score of 10) were for 'I like the way I am', 'I feel positive about my future' and 'I feel that I am learning a lot at the moment'. Fewer children selected 'complete agreement' (a score of 10) with 'people are generally pretty friendly towards me' and 'I am good at managing my daily responsibilities'.

A higher percentage of ten year-olds selected complete agreement (score of 10) than 12 year-olds (Table 28).

Table 27. CW- PSWBS items (%), 12 year-old

How much you agree with	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
I like being the way I am	1.7	0.7	1.0	0.9	1.2	4.6	3.2	4.8	5.1	8.3	68.3
I am good at managing my daily responsibilities	2.6	1.0	1.0	0.9	1.9	9.8	4.2	9.0	11.4	18.3	39.8
People are generally pretty friendly towards me	4.3	1.9	1.1	3.7	5.6	15.0	6.4	8.9	11.3	15.3	26.5
I have enough choice about how I spend my time	4.4	1.7	1.4	1.5	3.0	7.4	6.0	6.6	13.4	14.0	40.7
I feel that I am learning a lot at the moment	2.0	0.5	0.4	1.0	1.2	4.1	3.4	4.7	9.0	13.4	60.3
I feel positive about my future	2.7	0.8	0.9	1.1	1.0	5.6	2.4	3.1	6.9	12.4	63.2

Note: missing <1%

Table 28. CW- PSWBS items (%), 10 year-old

How much you agree with	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
I like being the way I am	2.6	0.1	0.3	0.4	0.7	3.7	2.1	2.2	2.6	6.6	78.7
I am good at managing my daily responsibilities	2.4	0.4	0.7	0.9	0.6	6.9	2.2	4.0	7.4	15.0	59.6
People are generally pretty friendly towards me	4.4	0.6	1.0	1.9	1.5	11.6	2.8	6.0	9.0	12.5	48.6
I have enough choice about how I spend my time	5.8	0.3	0.6	1.0	1.7	7.3	2.4	4.9	7.4	11.8	56.8
I feel that I am learning a lot at the moment	2.1	0.3	0.4	0.1	0.8	3.8	1.7	2.8	6.1	11.3	70.5
I feel positive about my future	2.8	0.4	0.4	0.8	0.6	6.0	1.1	2.7	4.5	11.6	69.2

Note: missing =9.4% (N=93)

Variations in overall subjective well-being

Table 29 presents variations in overall subjective well-being for children, according to age group and gender. The findings for age show that, for all six measures there was a decrease in subjective well-being between 12 year-old and 10 year-old children. This decrease was significant for all the measures, except negative affect. There was more of a mixed pattern for gender differences. Most measures had only slight differences in mean scores for boys and girls. The only measures that were marginally significant were SWSB and PAS, with girls reporting higher well-being than boys.

Table 29. Variations in different measures of subjective well-being (means)

			•	• •	•	
	OLS	SWBS	DBSWBS	Positive Affect	Negative Affect	PSWBS
Age group						
10 year-old	9.05	88.29	85.50	80.71	47.52	87.19
12 year-old	8.54	83.02	80.68	76.51	46.08	82.14
Gender						
Girl	8.87	86.77	83.00	79.88	46.71	84.67
Boy	8.74	84.86	83.16	77.71	46.87	84.38
Total	8.79	85.66	83.10	78.61	46.81	84.50

2.10 Children's perceptions about their country

Children were also asked some questions about their understanding of rights in Namibia. More 12 year-olds reported knowing what children's rights were than 10 year-olds (79.9% vs. 72.1%). Overall, about a quarter of children reported that they knew what the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child was.

Table 30. Children's rights (%)

		10-year-olds	12-year-olds	Total
I know what rights children have	No	7.6	2.1	4.8
	Not sure	20.3	18.0	19.2
	Yes	72.1	79.9	76.0
	Total	100	100	100
I know about the UN	No	43.6	41.5	42.5
Convention on the	Not sure	29.8	34.8	32.3
Rights of the Child	Yes	26.7	23.7	25.2
	Total	100	100	100

3. Conclusions

Our sample had a higher proportion of female participants (58.2%) compared to the school statistics in Khomas region (51.5%)³¹. It may have been that girls were more likely to return parental consent forms. However, this should be taken into account when interpreting study results. Furthermore, a large proportion of children were not 10 or 12 years old within the selected grades, which reflects the broader distribution of learners in the region and the country. The impact that this may have in indicators of subjective well-being or in other aspects of survey administration will need to be explored.

The results showed that a large percentage of 10 and 12-year old children reside with members of their family. Further evidence indicated that most children across all groups were highly satisfied with their home and also with the people they live. There was a tendency for 12 year-olds to report less agreement than 10 year-olds with questions indicating positive interaction with family members.

Although children's views on their friendships were mostly positive, still there were many children who felt they did not have enough friends, that their friends were not usually nice to them or that they did not get along with their friends. Children were also less satisfied with the children in their class compared with other aspects of school, such as their life as a student. A particularly concerning finding was the high percentage of children who indicated being bullied by other children. High rates of bullying have already been reported in Namibia²⁴ and the *Children's Worlds* data will allow us to further explore the relationship between well-being and bullying. Verbal bullying was the most commonly reported form of bullying, but at least half the children also indicated experiencing physical bullying and being left out by children in their class.

Despite the high number of children admitting to being bullied, many also indicated that they feel safe at school, with only 10% not agreeing with the statement 'I feel safe at school'. Regarding safety, while 51.4% of children totally agreed with feeling safe at school, only 32.5% totally agreed with feeling safe when they walk in their local area. Further exploring children's understandings of the term 'safety' and contextualization of results will be needed to adequately interpret these findings.

Over a third of children (37.5%) 'often' or 'always' worried about how much money their families had and only 73.7% of children 'always' had enough food to eat. While 75.4% of children had a toilet that flushes, only 65.4% of children had access to electricity all of the time and only 63.7% had access to running water. Future analyses will carefully disaggregate results by socio-economic status and contrast those with recent demographic surveys in Khomas region in order to validate the representativity of our sample.

Levels of subjective well-being were generally high in children. Given the challenges that children in Namibia face, this finding is surprising and requires validation in other studies. Differences in age in subjective well-being are consistent with other research, with older children generally experiencing lower subjective well-being than younger children ³⁵. Our

findings suggest that girls have higher subjective well-being compared to boys on *Children's Worlds* Subjective Well-Being Scale (CW-SWSB) and Positive Affect Scale (PAS). This finding differs from other studies which have found that boys score higher on subjective well-being than girls³⁶.

The findings of this report have been intentionally brief and further analysis will continue to explore the facilitators and risk factors that may be involved in the subjective well-being of children in Namibia.

References

¹ Namibia Statistics Agency. (2017). Namibia Inter-censal Demographic Survey. Windhoek, Namibia: Namibia Statistics Agency

2 RAISON. (2014). Young people in Namibia: An analysis of the 2011 population & housing census. Windhoek, Namibia: Research and Information services of Namibia.

3 The Namibia Ministry of Health and Social Services (MoHSS) and ICF International. (2014). The Namibia Demographic and Health Survey 2013. Windhoek, Namibia, and Rockville, Maryland, USA: MoHSS and ICF International.

4 Bank of Namibia (2019). Quarterly bulletin September 2019. Bank of Namibia, Windhoek. retrieved from:

https://www.bon.com.na/CMSTemplates/Bon/Files/bon.com.na/03/03f628e3-6f52-49df-9c78-8166257f54f4.pdf

5 United Nations Development Programme (2018). Human Development Indices and Indicators: 2018 Statistical Update. Retrieved from: http://hdr.undp.org/sites/default/files/2018_human_development_statistical_update.pdf
6 Namibia Statistics Agency, 2019. Namibia Labour Force Survey 2018 Report. Namibia Statistics Agency, Windhoek.

7 Namibia Statistics Agency (2011). Population and Housing Census Regional Profile, Khomas Region. Retrieved from:

https://d3rp5jatom3eyn.cloudfront.net/cms/assets/documents/p19dptss1ri5r1f2kt6i5931i3 1g.pdf

8 The Namibia Ministry of Health and Social Services (MoHSS) and ICF International. (2014). The Namibia Demographic and Health Survey 2013. Windhoek, Namibia, and Rockville, Maryland, USA: MoHSS and ICF International.

9 Shayo Flavia, S. and B. Mash (2019). "Modifiable factors within the prevention of mother-to-child transmission programme associated with failure to prevent HIV transmission in the Onandjokwe district of Namibia." South African Family Practice 61(1): 24-29.

10 Kalomo Eveline Ndii, E. N. (2018). "Associations between HIV-related stigma, self-esteem, social support, and depressive symptoms in Namibia." Aging and Mental Health 22(12): 1570-1576.

11 Ruiz-Casares Mónica, M., et al. "The association of single and double orphanhood with symptoms of depression among children and adolescents in Namibia." European Child and Adolescent Psychiatry 18(6): 369-376.

- 12 Brown David, W. D., et al. "Exposure to physical and sexual violence and adverse health behaviours in African children: results from the Global School-based Student Health Survey." Bulletin of the World Health Organization 87(6): 447-455.
- 13 Namibia Statistics Agency. (2016). Namibia Household Income and Expenditure Survey. Windhoek, Namibia: Namibia Statistics Agency
- 14 Namibia Statistics Agency. (2012). Child poverty in Namibia: A child-centred analysis of the NHIES 2009/10. Windhoek, Namibia: Namibia Statistics Agency.
- 15 Namibia Statistics Agency. (2017). Namibia Inter-censal Demographic Survey. Windhoek, Namibia: Namibia Statistics Agency
- 16 MOHSS. (2014). National Guidelines for Antiretroviral Therapy Revised Fourth Edition. Windhoek, Namibia.
- 17 Barihuta, Tharcisse. (2018). Namibia: Country Factsheets. Retrieved from: https://www.unaids.org/en/regionscountries/countries/namibia
- 18 MOHSS. (2017). National Strategic Framework for HIV and AIDS Response in Namibia 2017/18 to 2021/22. Windhoek, Namibia.
- 19 Ruiz-Casares M. Between Adversity and Agency: Child and Youth-Headed Households in Namibia. Vulnerable Children & Youth Studies 2009;4:238 48.
- 20 Ruiz-Casares M. Kin and Youths in the Social Networks of Youth-Headed Households in Namibia. Journal of Marriage and Family 2010;72:1408-25.
- 21 Ruiz-Casares M, Gentz S, Beatson J. Children as Providers and Recipients of Support: Redefining Family Among Child- Headed Households in Namibia. In: Guzman MRTd, Brown J, Edwards CP, eds. Parenting from Afar: The Reconfiguration of the Family Across Distance. New York: Oxford University Press; 2018:219-44.
- 22 The Namibia Ministry of Health and Social Services (MoHSS) and ICF International. (2014). The Namibia Demographic and Health Survey 2013. Windhoek, Namibia, and Rockville, Maryland, USA: MoHSS and ICF International.
- 23 MOHSS. (2004). An assessment of the nature and consequences of intimate male-partner violence in Windhoek, Namibia: A sub study of the WHO multi-country study on women's health and domestic violence. Windhoek, Namibia: Polytechnic Press.
- 24 Brown, D. W., Riley, L., Butchart, A., & Kann, L. (2008). Bullying among youth from eight African countries and associations with adverse health behaviors. Pediatric Health, 2(3), 289-299.
- 25 Nordtveit, B.H. (2010). Schools as Agencies of Protection in Namibia and Swaziland: Can They Prevent Dropout and Child Labor in the Context of HIV/AIDS and Poverty?.

Comparative Education Review. (54) 2, 223-242, doi:

https://www.journals.uchicago.edu/doi/pdfplus/10.1086/651261

- ²⁶ UNICEF. (2013). Towards Namibia fit for children: Situational analysis on the status of children's and adolescents' rights, 2010-2013. Windhoek, Namibia: UNICEF.
- 27 Government of the Republic of Namibia (2016). Namibia's National Agenda for Children 2012-2016. Windhoek, Namibia: Ministry of Gender Equality and Child Welfare
- 28 Child Care and Protection Act of 2015. https://laws.parliament.na/cms_documents/child-care-and-protection-8dc2aafc4e.pdf
- 29 Coomer, R. (2011). Experiences of parents of children with mental disability regarding access to mental health care. (Unpublished Masters Thesis). University of Stellenbosch, Stellenbosch, South Africa.

 $^{^{30}}$ Ministry of Education. (2011). EMIS education statistics 2011. Windhoek, Namibia: Ministry of Education.

³¹ Huebner, E. S. (1991). Further Validation of the Students' Life Satisfaction Scale: The Independence of Satisfaction and Affect Ratings. Journal of Psychoeducational Assessment, 9(4), 363–368. https://doi.org/10.1177/073428299100900408

³² Seligson, J. L., Huebner, E. S., & Valois, R. (2003). Preliminary validation of the Brief Multidimensional Students' Life Satisfaction Scale (BMSLSS). *Social Indicators Research*, *61*, 121–145.

³³ Barrett, F. L., & Russell, J. A. (1998). Independence and bipolarity in the structure of current affect. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 74(4), 967.

³⁴ Ryff, C. D. (1989). Happiness is everything, or is it? Explorations on the meaning of psychological wellbeing. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 57(6), 1069.

³⁵ Casas, F. & Mònica González-Carrasco, M. (2019). Subjective Well-Being Decreasing With Age: New Research on Children Over 8. Child Development, 90 (2), 375-394

³⁶ Kaye-Tzadok, A. & Kim,S.S. & Main, G., 2017. Children's subjective well-being in relation to gender — What can we learn from dissatisfied children?, Children and Youth Services Review,, 80(C), 96-104.